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The Northampton County Courthouse and Clerk's Office are Jocated amid a grassy,
tree—-shaded courthouse square in the small, very southern town of Jackson. The
exteriors of both are well-preserved, extremely representative examples of antebellum
public architecture. The courthouse square, dominated by these two major buildings,
also includes three later structures.

The courthouse, an imposing Greek Revival style temple-form structure faces south.
To the west, also facing south, is the smaller one-story brick clerk's office, with
the stepped parapet gable ends and plaster cornice, composing a type only rarely
represented in the state. Between the two buildings ig a small brick domestic-scale
building, built in 1900, which while less distinguished than its neighbors, does not

intrude.

The courthouse is built of brick laid in common bond and painted white (early
twentieth century photographs show it unpainted). It is three bays wide and three
longer bays deep. The main floor, treated as a piano nobile, rises a tall single story
above the raised basement, which is differentiated by a projecting water table. The
main (south) facade is dominated by an imposing prostyle tetrastyle portico with great
fluted Ionic columns carrying the simple, heavy pediment. In The Farly Architecture
of North Carolina, Thomas T. Waterman observed that the '"large scale of the columns gives
the building a monumental quality which is rivalled only by the heroic portico of the
Davidson County Courthouse at Lexington." The outer columns rest on large pedestals
that break out from the high foundation of the porch. Two flights of steps rise to the
porch--replacing the broad single flight shown in early photographs. The simple
entablature of the portico continues along-the sides of the building, and at the front
and rear corners of the building it is supported by Doric pilasters with simple granite

caps and bases.

The main facade now has three entrances: a large, ornately treated central one and
two flanking doorways inserted during a 1939 WPA remodeling and expansion. The central
entrance consists of a tall double door, each leaf with eight flat panels, beneath a
fourteen-light transom. Surmcunting the doorway is a heavy, ornate entablature supported
on scrolled acanthus consoles. The entablature is enriched with bands of egg-and-dart,
acanthus, and foliate moldings. The general appearance of this imposing entrance is seen
in early photographs. The flanking doorways are much shorter and simpler, with four
flat panels and a simple entablature.

The side elevations have at the first (basement) level, simple windows with two-
over—-six sash beneath stone lintels. There is a door in the second bay on the west side;

it has four flat panels and a simple entablature. The openings of the main story
feature extremely large nine-over-nine sash beneath entablatures enriched with a band of

egg—and—-dart molding. )

To the rear of the original courthouse is the WPA era addition, a large two-story
block that creates a T-shaped composition. Its scale fits with that of the original
block, and the material (brick) and finish blend with the original as well, including
the projecting water table, corner pilasters, and entablature. Fenestration is different,
however, reflecting the interior space division into two main stories of normal height
rather than the high single story of the earlier building. The ends of the addition
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The broad, open courthouse square at the center of Jackson contains buildings from
well over a century of the county's government, including two antebellum public buildings
of considerable architectural distinction. The fireproof Clerk's and Register's Office
was built in 1831 by Captain Abraham Spencer of Oxford; its construction is well documented
in county records. It is a small, handsomely executed brick structure distinguished by
Flemish bond brickwork, coved plastered cornices, and stepped gables. The imposing court-
house, built in 1858, is among the few surviving examples in the state of the full-blown
Greek Revival temple-form public buildings. Tradition credits H. K. Burgwyn with its
construction, but no documents survive from its construction. Later additions to the
complex include a small 1900 clerk's office and a 1939 rear addition to the courthouse—-
both rendered in the fashion typical of their eras.

The county of Northampton in North Carolina was ?stablished in 1741 from Bertie
County, on land purchased by Jeptha Atherton in 1762. On June 4, 1798, the North
Carolina Journal at Halifax reported:

Yoo
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. "For lease--Land and plantation at Nofthampton Courthouse formerly
belonging to Col. Jeptha Atherton upon which is a good dwelling . |
house--convenient outhouses--also a grist mill. Besides—-—immediately
at the courthouse there is a house which is-now used as a tavern
and is from its location well calculated for that purpoée: And--a
‘storehouse near it which is well situated for a country store."

y o

This gives a clear picture of the village which later (the property by then belonged to
Joseph H. Bryan of Granville County, North Carolina) became the town of Jackson-—evidently
named for General Andrew Jackson. Beforg its establishment as Jackson, the village was
simply called "Northampton Court House.'

In 1831 the Statehouse of North Carolina, located in Raleigh, burned to the ground.
The disaster dramatized the vulnerability of public records to fire, and as a result a
number of counties in the state began to make plans to build fireproof buildings to house
the county records. Northampton County was among the first, if not the first county in
the state to do so.

On April 21, 1831, Samuel Calvert, Esq., chairman of the Northampton County
Court, accepted bond of $1,400 from Abraham Spencer and John D. Amis for the successful
completion of the proposed Fire Proof Clerks and_Registers Office, which was to be located
on the courthouse square in the town of Jackson.

The cost of the building was to be $1,400 and Spencer got the job.4 Little is
known of Captain Abraham Spgncer Qf Oxford, North Carolina, beyond the fact that he did
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later thTOroof was to be relaid by Bragg, and made tight so that there would be no
leakage.

On September 20, 1845, William B. Turner was contracted to do additional repairs
to the building; the records indicate that he was to lay a new brick floor, the doors
to be repaired and some glass panes added in the windows, where they WTEE obviously
broken, or missing. This work was undertaken for ninety-five dollars.

The fireproof building provided some sense of safety which became very attractive
in August, 1831, when Nat Turner's slave insurrection in neighboring Southampton County,
Virginia, began. A granddaughter of Samuel Calvert, whose house was at the courthouse,

recalled:

It was rumored that Nat was headed toward Northampton County. The
militia was quartered in the old Clerk's office for the protection
of our people. The signal was to be the firing of a gun should Nat
be coming this way. That night the soldiers were frolicing and
accidently fired a gun. The people near enough to hea{zit rushed
to town in a panic, and more came as the rumor spread.

Nat Turner never came into Northampton County.

The building was damaged on August 1, 1886, when a severe earthquake occurred
near Charleston, South Cﬁgolina, which sent great shocks up and down a large section
of the eastern seaboard. At that time the building was repaired, and it continued

to be used for its original purposes. -

The building located between the Clerks and Registers Office and the courthouse
was built in 1900 as offices for the clerk of court and the register of deeds, and
used for that purpose until 1939. When the clerk of court and the register of deeds
moved into this structure the old Clerks and Registers Office, built in 1831, was used 14
for a number of county offices, among them the sheriff and the superintendent of schools.

In 1939 the clerk's and register's offices were moved into the new addition to the
courthouse, and the 1831 Clerks and Registers Office was then used for the county library,
until December 7, 1970, when the library moved to new quarters. For a time the library
had also served as the Northampton County Museum, but as that collection grew, more space
was needed, and the museum moved out and into the 1900 building. In 1970 the museum
returned to the 1831 Clerks and Registers Office, and shared space with the county
Industrial Development Commission who for a time ed one room of the building. It is

now used solely as the Northampton County Museum.

GPO 892 455
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The additions to the building are of more recent date. The Raleigh News and Observer,
Sunday, August 6, 1939, reported that the work of renovating was complete.”~ A. Mitchell
Wooten of Kinston, North Carolina, was architect for the addition and the Dermont
Construction Company of High Point, North Carolina was general contractor. The paper
reported the "work was completed this week. . ." and went on to report that "in the
renovation work a wing was added at the rear to provide ample office space. This wing
contains offices, jury rooms, county commissioner's room, the judge's chamber, 21
attorney's rooms, and rest rooms. The addition is 80 feet long and 40 feet wide."

The front steps, which originally had descended in a broad, straight flight to the
ground, were divided into two main sections and the o0ld wooden balustrade substituted
by a more elaborate one of cast iron. The two rooms just inside the front doorway of
the original building (originally used as jury rooms) were removed in the renovatiog2
to enlarge the courtroom. Colonial Revival elaboration was added to the courtroom.
The renovation of the courthouse was made possible through the Federal Emergency
Administration of Public Works, during the Franklin D. Rosevelt administration.

GPO 892 455
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